
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 
Joint Chief Executive 

Rob Barlow 
 

 
Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire   PE21 8QR 
Tel: 01205 314200 
Fax: 01205 364604 

 

 

 

18 October 2021 
 

TO MEMBERS OF THE ENVIRONMENT AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 
 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE  
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY - ENVIRONMENT & PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 

 

Dear Councillor 
 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the  
Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee on 

Tuesday, 26th October, 2021 at 6.30 pm 
in the Guildhall Boston 

 
ROB BARLOW 
Joint Chief Executive 
 

Membership: 
  

Chairman: Councillor Judith Skinner 
Vice Chairman: Councillor Judy Welbourn 
 Councillors Tom Ashton, Alison Austin, Peter Bedford, 

Katie Chalmers, Anton Dani, Paul Goodale, Neill Hastie, 
Yvonne Stevens and Chelcei Trafford 
 

 
 

A G E N D A 
 
PART 1 - PRELIMINARIES 
 

A.   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

B.   MINUTES                                                                                           (Pages 1 - 10) 
 

 To sign and confirm the  minutes of the previous meeting. 
 

C.   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

 To receive declarations of interests in respect of any item on the agenda. 
 

D.   PUBLIC QUESTIONS  
 

 To answer any written questions received from members of the public no later than 
5 p.m. two clear working days prior to the meeting – for this meeting the deadline 
is 5 p.m. on 21 October 2021.  

Public Document Pack



 
 
 
 
 
PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 
 

1   CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY                                                     (Pages 11 - 38) 
 

 A report by the Climate Change and Environment Manager 

 
2   MEMBER WORKING GROUP FLY TIPPING  

 

 A verbal update by the Vice Chairman Councillor Judy Welbourn. 
 

3   WORK PROGRAMME INCLUDING  
QUARTER 1 PERFORMANCE REPORTING.                                 (Pages 39 - 48) 
 

 (For Members to note/discuss the Committee’s current work programme) 
 

 
 
 
 
Notes: 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Karen Rist, 
Democratic Services Officer, Municipal Buildings, Boston, Telephone Number 01205 
314226.    email:  karen.rist@boston.gov.uk  
 
Council Members who are not able to attend the meeting should notify as soon as possible 
giving the name of the Council Member (if any) who will be attending the meeting as their 
substitute. 
 
 
 
 
 
Alternative Versions 
Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format such as larger text, 
Braille or a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on direct dial (01205) 
314226 
 



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY - ENVIRONMENT & 
PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 
 

7 September 2021 

Present: Councillor Judith Skinner (Chairman), Councillor Judy Welbourn (Vice-
Chairman), Councillors Katie Chalmers, Anton Dani, Paul Goodale, Neill Hastie, 
Yvonne Stevens and Stephen Woodliffe 
 

In attendance:  
 

Guests: Inspector Fran Harrod – Lincolnshire Police. 
 

Officers: 
Section 151 Officer, Anti-Social Behaviour Officer, CCTV Manager, Improvement 
Development Service Manager, Democratic Services Officer and Democratic Services 
Apprentice.  
 
8   APOLOGIES 

 
Apologies for absence tabled by Councillor Peter Bedford, Councillor Stephen Woodliffe 
substituting.  Further apologies from Councillors Tom Ashton and Alison Austin.  No 
substitute members. 
 
9   MINUTES 

 
Committee agreed the minutes of the previous meeting held on the 22 June 2021. 
 
10   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

 
No declarations of interest tabled. 
 
11   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

 
No public questions.  
 

Prior to moving into part one of the meeting the Chairman welcomed Inspector Fran 
Harrod of Lincolnshire Police and thanked her for her attendance in support of the first 
two items on the agenda. 
 
12   ANNUAL CCTV REPORT 

 
The CCTV Manager presented the annual report advising committee that Boston 
Borough Council’s public realm CCTV system consisted of digital high definition CCTV 
cameras and CCTV control room equipment that covered Boston town centre, Kirton 
and other areas including Boston College, Pilgrim Hospital, Redstone Industrial Estate 
and Pescod Square. 
The Council further monitored cameras on behalf of NKDC, SHDC and ELDC, although 
detailed incident data for those council areas had not been included in the report. 
 
Performance data at appendix A noted that during the period 01 April 2020 to 31st March 
2021 the service had logged 15,652 daily entries and completed 2863 incident reports.   
Boston Borough Council had further received 445 out of hours’ service calls with the 
CCTV operators having received a combined total of 1192 calls for Boston Borough 
Council and East Lindsey District Council.   

Page 1

Agenda Item B.



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
7 September 2021 
 

 
The CCTV Operators had directly contributed to 122 arrests within the Boston Borough 
area and 287 arrests for the total coverage area.  They had also produced 123 pieces of 
evidence for Lincolnshire Police and Court use with a total number of 296 pieces of 
evidence produced. 
 
The CCTV Manager referred members to appendix A of the report and invited them to 
question the full statistical data therein. 
 
Member comment and questioning followed which included: 
 

Members questioned the staffing level of the service and need for any increase in 
operators, whilst referencing the volume of log entries and agreeing it was an impressive 
amount of work that the operators were undertaking.  Furthermore, a Member 
questioned the volume of evidence provided, querying management of evidence cases 
aside from viewing the monitors. 
In response, the CCVT Manager confirmed that in general there were two operatives per 
shift, with overlapping at some points.  At certain times of the day when the town was 
quiet, in particular in the early morning hours, only one operator was on site.  There was 
capacity in the service to put more operators on when large events occurred, but the 
maximum number of staff at any one time was three for the operating equipment 
available.   Evidence gathering took place at the workstation used for viewing the 
monitors and was mostly produced in quieter times during a shift, often by the night staff 
who had capacity with less activity on the monitors.  
 

Further questioning sought advice on who paid for the operators; were all the cameras 
in operation as there had been ongoing issues of ASB in the town and concern at single 
officer working through the night that a member felt could be dangerous.  A Member 
also asked why the Police asked businesses to provide CCTV coverage when incidents 
arose in the town. 
 

The CCTV Manager confirmed the Council paid for the operators as they were 
employees, but monies received for the service by third parties included a percentage 
for the operators.  Referencing the cameras, he advised that although he did not have 
the maintenance log with him, to the best of his knowledge all cameras were working.  
He advised that regular maintenance was undertaken and the Assistant Director – 
Regulation confirmed that the revenue budget enabled funding all year round for 
maintenance and repair with a local provider on call who would respond swiftly to any 
breakdown.  Referencing single working the Portfolio Holder advised that the Council 
had a Lone Working Policy in place.   Inspector Harrod advised that when a serious 
incident arose it was the policy of the Police to source as much supporting evidence as 
possible, and that did include sourcing any additional CCTV footage that may be 
available within the vicinity of the incident. 
 

Referencing the funding provided by BTAC a Member asked if the appointment for the 
new CCTV operative filled having seen advertisements for such operators and further 
asked if there was any feedback on the coverage in the park and evidence of any effect 
of the installation of the camera.  The CCTV Manager advised that an existing part time 
operator had taken up the new post funded by BTAC but that no data was available in 
respect of the impact of the additional service in the park, as there had been little time 
since the implementation to collate any detailed information.   
 

Page 2



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
7 September 2021 

 

 
 
 
However, feedback information would be produced to allow reporting to BTAC to enable 
it to monitor the outcomes of its’ funding, which would be supported by reporting by the 
Police in respect of ASB activity. 
  
Members questioned the type and amount of cameras currently used within the town.  
One member questioned buying more cameras’ to address the volume of crime taking 
place, although one member questioned the figures raised stating that Boston was not 
as bad as Members felt it to be and stated he felt the service worked well and Members 
needed to remember they were spending ratepayers money. Ratepayers in BTAC would 
be subject to precept up by 5% just to fund the one operator for Central Park. 
Furthermore, the Member questioned expanding the staff levels to provide a greater 
service for the public and businesses of the town. 
The CCTV Manager advised that the current cameras in use were PTZ zoned which 
allowed them to cover differing areas within their location but not one specific location 
continually.  He stated it would be possible to look at static cameras which provided a 
360 view on one area all the time in areas subject to high crime rates, a further option 
was to use mobile cameras in similar areas.  The Portfolio Holder stated that the 
cameras had been replaced two years previously and the Council had an open source 
system with many differing types of cameras being available.  He further underlined the 
fact that Government was very clear in respect of the siting of cameras and any siting of 
mobile units would require permission from the owners of premises on which to site 
them.  Furthermore, evidence of the need for any additional cameras would be required 
to all consideration of expanding the existing service. 
 
Responding to the requests for increasing the staffing levels of the services, the 
Assistant Director – Regulation stated it would be wrong to say the service was under-
staffed.  The level of service aligned to the budget that provided so many operators per 
week/year, it was not under-resourced. 
Staff turnover was the nature of the service with recruitment being an on-going process.  
Any increase in the staffing level would need to be evidence based and any such 
increase would have an impact on services elsewhere within the Council. 
 
A Member questioned the possibility of an apprentice scheme in the service to allow the 
Council to recruit from within once trained.  The suggestion was warmly received and 
supported by the Committee with agreement Cabinet be charged with looking at the 
staffing level and introducing an apprenticeship opening into the service.  
 
In response to a question that sought advice on the opportunities available for sourcing 
grants and funding for the service the CCTV Manager confirmed that no current 
schemes were available but officers always looked for options.  
The Assistant Director – Regulation confirmed that the Council had applied for funding 
through Police Crime Lincolnshire but unfortunately the funding had been over-
subscribed. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
7 September 2021 
 

 
 
A Member asked what the third party receivers paid for the service and what the 
breakdown of the costs charged included.  The Assistant Director – Regulation 
confirmed he would provide the information after the meeting. 
 
Further comments and advice provided included concern by a Member in respect of a 
lack of signage when approaching the town advising that CCTV operated throughout the 
town, and confirmation that the third party receivers of the service were responsible for 
paying for their own cameras and their installation within their areas.  

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
That The Environment and Performance Committee request that Cabinet consider the 
introduction of an apprenticeship scheme for the CCTV service to enable the Council to 
train future operatives.  
 
TO DO: 
 

1. To provide a breakdown of the accounts for the third party service. 
2. To look at increased signage on the approach to the town and   
    within the town, confirming CCTV coverage was in operation.  

 
 
13   ANNUAL CRIME AND DISORDER REVIEW - ASB - PSPO (ALCOHOL) 

STATISTICS 2021 - 22. 
 

 
The Anti-Social Behaviour Officer presented the report confirming that the Council’s 
Community Safety Team used National Legislation and County-Wide Policies and 
Procedures when dealing with Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB). The team worked alongside 
numerous partner agencies, particularly the Neighbourhood Policing Team based at 
Boston Police Station. 
 
The Council’s only ASB Officer widely utilised the powers contained within the Anti-
Social Behaviour, Crime & Policing Act 2014, guided by the Safer Lincolnshire 
Partnership Strategy’s ‘Intervention and Incremental Approach Policy and Procedure 
2015’ when dealing with ASB and other non-criminal offences.  The approach normally 
had 4 stages with statistics throughout the report for each stage for ASB enforcement 
and PSPO enforcement 
 
Appendix 1 of the report provided ASB enforcement statistics for the period 1st April 
2020 – 31st March 2021 in comparison to the previous year, 1st April 2019 – 31st March 
2020.  Appendix B provided PSPO for alcohol statistics.  
 
The Anti-Social Behaviour Officer concluded his presentation with a summary of the 
statistics as noted below: 
 
 
 
 

Page 4



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
7 September 2021 

 

 
 
 
Enforcement: 
Stage:                                                         2020-2021               2019 – 2020 
1. ASB Advice Letter                                70 issued                  61 issued 
2. ASB Warning Letter                              31 issued                  80 Issued 
3. Acceptable Behaviour Agreement          3 issued                  17 issued 
4. Civil Injunctions (granted by Court)        0 issued                    9 issued 
For over 18’s 
5. Stage 3 Community Protection 

Notice Warnings.                                    0 issued                    2 issued 
 

6. Stage 3 Community Protection 
Notice                                                     0 issued                    0 issued 

 
PSPO – Alcohol: 
 
Stage:                                                         2020-2021               2019 – 2020 
1. PSPO Advice Letter                              99 issued                  57 Issued 
2. PSPO Warning Letter                           15 issued                    7 issued 
3. Community Protection Notice                 8 issued                    1 issued 

Warning.  
 
4. Community Protection Notice                 0 issued                    0 issued 

 
Breach of PSPO (refused a request by an authorised officer to desist from drinking 
alcohol within the designated are or leave the area): 

 
Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN)                    0 issued                    0 issued  

 
Providing information on the procedure of the staged approach the Anti-Social 
Behaviour Officer advised that the Council or Police produced the 1st stage letter and the 
PCSO who dealt with the original incident delivered it to the person at their home 
address. The letter stayed on file for six month and if the person re offended within that 
period a stage 2 warning letter was issued, which would be delivered to the home 
address by the Community Safety Officer and a Police Officer.  The information would 
also be relayed to other services including Futures4Me which supported a number of 
youth services under its’ own umbrella. The family of the offender would also receive an 
offer of support but uptake was purely voluntary. When the offender further offended 
within the six months, they received a Community Protection Notice followed by an 
invitation to agree an acceptable behaviour contract that would include a set of 
conditions.  Compliance of the conditions would be voluntary, however normally they 
undertook the conditions and the majority of offenders at this stage very rarely 
proceeded to offend further.  When they did re-offend, the Council applied for a civil 
injunction through the Court.  Older people who did offend and received a community 
protection notice very rarely offended further.  
 
Member comment and questioning followed which included: 
 

Page 5



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
7 September 2021 
 

Addressing the value and strength of the PSPO a Member asked if the Council had to 
the right to extend its’ power to enable more offenders with increased repercussions’ for 
its misuse.  The Anti-Social Behaviour Officer advised that the PSPO was under 
National Legislation and used across the Country.  He reminded Members that it was 
not unlawful to drink in the street. However, if a person was seen drinking by an Officer, 
they would be asked to dispose of it.  Police dealt with drunk and disorderly incidents, 
the PSPO was only one option of dealing with street drinking as the Police had other 
powers that superseded the PSPO.  The only way to change the legislation would be via 
lobbying the local MP. 
 
Referencing an incident they had observed within the town whereby a person had been 
under the influence of alcohol at 0830hours in the town centre and had become violent, 
the Chairman advised she had called 101 and received a prompt response with 2 
officers attending in a short space of time to ensure the safety of the person.   Inspector 
Harrod advised that the person concerned had arrived in the town in a transit fashion.  
They had been offered help on a number of occasions but had continually refused it and 
the Police had made is clear that such behaviour would not be tolerated and the person 
had since left the town.  The Portfolio Holder confirmed that other legislation was 
available for persistent offenders, to allow the Council the right to exclude them from the 
town.  Boston had excellent services to support such people but they had to engage and 
if they chose not to and continued to cause problems, then they were subject to 
exclusion.  
 
A Member questioned the increase in certain areas attributed to Covid and asked what 
had happened since the situation had relaxed as the population came out of Covid 
restrictions and would the figures next year reflect a change. 
The Anti-Social Behaviour Officer advised that the figures within the report from March 
2020 to July 2020 had been much lower because of Covid19. Adults who had abused 
staff at the vaccination centres received stage 2 letters and the school holiday period 
usually resulted in a dip in incidents.  However, the late autumn and winter months often 
had a spike in incidents due to the darker nights.  Members were reassured that if an 
incident was report it would be dealt with.  The staged approach worked but a small 
minority would always continue to offend. 
 
Referencing cycling in and around the town a number of Members agreed that it was 
very dangerous and all residents were at risk of injury, especially the elderly and infirm.  
The lanes around the town proved exceptionally dangerous and the speed of the cyclists 
left no room to move out of the way.  They stopped buses on occasion, scared people 
and the cyclists themselves had no thought of pedestrians.   Suggestions to slow down 
the cyclists or to identify them included possible fences across the lanes providing a 
chicane, although concern noted the effect of mobility scooters. 
 
The Anti-Social Behaviour Officer agreed the sentiments and concerns of the members 
and assured them that action to identify the culprits via CCTV and is taken, and the 
PCSO who worked alongside the schools and did go into the schools to confront the 
perpetrators.  Inspector Harrod further advised that the town team had prioritised the 
issue with tickets having been issued and PCSO’s having stood at the end of the lanes.   
However, whilst signage was in place, it was ignored, and along with other activities, the 
action itself was quick.  
 
Committee noted the report and agreed their appreciation of the work undertaken. 

Page 6



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
7 September 2021 

 

 
14   PUBLIC CONVENIENCE PROVISION BOSTON. 

 
The Deputy Chief Executive addressed the meeting and advised that he sought a steer 
from Committee on taking the report forward, having tabled a similar report to the BTAC. 
The BTAC report had confirmed allocation of a national funding stream of £30mil for the 
provision of toilet facilities for adults with severe additional needs. The facilities would be 
3m x 4m with bids for £40k per unit available with a certain level of match funding. BTAC 
had agreed that bids for funding such facilities be taken forward.  BTAC had further 
agreed a request for £20k to fund a thorough overview of the existing toilet provision 
within the town that would include charges, a review of each site and future 
maintenance for each site.  BTAC would receive a report on the review on completion.  
 
Members were reassured that their original rationale for the report, including information 
on the provision of private facilities for public use, along with the costs for the provision 
of consumables at the private sites would be considered under the review and the 
overall findings presented within the final report which would come to Scrutiny as well as 
to BTAC. The deadline for bids for funding had been the end of September 2021 with a 
report expected within 4 – 6 weeks thereafter.   The Council would submit bids for all its 
sites however the likelihood of all being successful was doubtful and the two most 
probable sites would be those at the Assembly Rooms and at St. Botolph’s Church.  Of 
the two sites’ the most preferable would be that at St. Botolph’s Church.  The Deputy 
Chief Executive advised he had been attempting to make contact with both sites.  
 
Member comment and questioning followed which included: 
 
Noting that Oldrids department store had opened under another name, a Member 
advised that the toilet facility therein would be re-opened. The Member further advised 
of new facilities at the Blenkin Memorial Hall, which would include a toilet provision for 
use by the public.  
 
The Chairman noted she felt uncomfortable at putting public money into private facilities’ 
as the Council would have no control over the facility funded including the opening hours 
of the site, which would not align with the facilities provided by the Council.  
Furthermore, the Chairman stressed concern over the current quality of the Assembly 
Room facility, knowing that at the time it changed hands to the new owner, it required 
investment in respect of new drainage / plumbing issues along with other significant 
repairs and upgrading. The facility remained closed since the sale of the building and it 
would still require repairing and the level of condition would have deteriorated further.  
The Council should not be expected to use public funds to make the site operable and 
nor should any funding received for installation of the new model facility, be used for 
repair works to a private building.  
  
The Deputy Chief Executive noted that the Portfolio Holder had voiced similar concerns 
and he would seek the potential of extended opening hours during negotiations:  the 
Church and the Assembly Rooms were central to the market place and their location 
made them ideal sites for access.   The Deputy Chief Executive further advised he had 
considered other facilities within the town including Wide Bargate, the Bus Station and 
Central Park, although it appeared that Central Park was not suitable for such an 
extension.  The review to be undertaken would include negotiation with other third party 
providers including Boston College and the Train Station.  

Page 7



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
7 September 2021 
 

 
Referencing the lack of existing toilets within the market place a Member voiced concern 
for the market traders and also for local businesses who did allow the public to use the 
facilities and the costs they incurred in respect of consumables, electricity and cleaning.   
Another member noted that the Waterfall Plaza and the Bus Station Café had put in 
place a key deposit system whereby 50p was required for the key, with a refund of the 
deposit only after the owner/manager checked the facility after use. 
 
The Chairman concluded by thanking the Deputy Chief Executive for the update report 
and agreed the tabling of the final review report, in respect of the future provision of 
public conveniences, onto the programme of meetings.  
 
15   SOCIAL MEDIA ACCEPTABLE USE POLICY 

 
The Organisation Improvement and Development Manager presented an overview of 
the rationale for the draft policy and sought Members comment and feedback to shape 
the policy to allow it to be agreed and taken forward for implementation throughout the 
Alliance. 
Social Media was a key mechanism to allow the Councils to communicate with their 
communities. Facebook, LinkedIn, Instagram and Twitter provided information and 
allowed engagement by the public who fed back to the Council.  However, at times, the 
feedback was inappropriate and the policy would provide the Council with a governance 
framework to pro-actively manage the accounts and deal with inappropriate comments. 
 
Member comment and questioning followed which included: 
 
Addressing inappropriate commenting/posting by members of the public a Member 
suggested making the streams more restrictive to prohibit posting, whilst another 
Member suggested the Council implement a three-strike rule against people who 
continually abused and harassed officers. The Member also questioned the 
inappropriate and vexatious commenting by some Councillors on the social media 
streams and questioned if the Council treated the Councillors’ in the same way as 
Members of the public.  
The Organisation Improvement and Development Manager advised of recent action 
taken in respect of inappropriate posting which resulted in turning off the comment 
facility.  The Council would contact prolific posters and if they persisted in inappropriate 
posting, the Council blocked their facility to post to the Council sites.  Councillors who 
posted inappropriate posts are subject to the same restrictions as members of the 
public.  
 
Questioning the monitoring of the sites during working hours between 9 / 5 Monday to 
Friday a member voiced concern that the sites were unmonitored in the evenings and 
over the weekend allowing inappropriate comments on view for a long period.  Members 
further questioned the lack of translation of certain languages on the social media 
streams hosted by the Council, with reference to a recent survey receiving very few 
feedbacks due to the lack of translation.    
The Organisation Improvement and Development Manager advised that officers were 
able to pre schedule work on the Council’s own website to give some control on what it 
posted over the weekend period.  However, it had no such control on the other media 
streams.    
 

Page 8



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
7 September 2021 

 

 
 
The Portfolio Holder reinforced his support of the ongoing work by the communications 
team and stressed that community leader meetings took place regularly allowing 
messages to go out into the various communities within the town.  He further stated that 
nobody, including Officers and Members, should be harassed or bullied.  
 
The Chairman questioned the Councils’ control in respect of sharing and copying of its 
posts.   
The Organisation Improvement and Development Manager advised the Council was 
limited in what it could do.  Individuals could copy but if the nature of the copy and 
subsequent comments related to hate crime or similar, the Monitoring Officer would be 
contacted and action taken.  
 
RECOMMENDED: 
 

That the Environment and Performance Committee recommend that Cabinet be 
recommended to agree that consultation of the Social Media Acceptable Use Policy 
proceed. 
 
16   UPDATE ON FLY TIPPING - MEMBER WORKING GROUP 

 
 

Reporting on the groups meeting held on the 27 July 2021 Councillor Welbourn advised 
that the key items discussed included: 
 

▪ Ongoing contact in respect of overt CCTV surveillance, which resulted in FPN’s.  
The group agreed that company kept the majority of income. 

▪ The group agreed that the Council retain income from abandoned vehicles and 
dog-fouling FPN’s. 

▪ The group agreed to increase and support the schools in their education of fly 
tipping with their students. The group believed students would spread their own 
education on the subject outside of school. 

▪ Options of a 3 – 5 year contract with another provider.  Tenders would be invited 
and reporting on any such change would come back to the working groups’ 
parent committee.  

▪ Possible change of operation with an in-house service following the mammoth 
amount of cancelled FPN’s from supermarket sites.   

▪ Suggestion that in-house would allow the Council to train its own enforcement 
team and eventually have a joined up system. 

▪ The situation in respect of out of town fly tipping was concerning as it was not 
reported not monitored.  The Environment Agency did not fine if the amount of 
the tip was not substantial. 

▪ The group considered taking away the secondary bins from households 
continuing to contaminate their primary bin. 
 

The Chairman asked when the next meeting of the group would be scheduled and 
Councillor Welbourn confirmed that future meetings would be scheduled on an ad-hoc 
basis as / of required.   The Portfolio Holder was very active in providing feedback on all 
waste related matters and therefore the future of the group was unknown 
 

Page 9



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
7 September 2021 
 

17   WORK PROGRAMME 
 

The Assistant Director – Regulation (Lead Officer for the committee) confirmed that 
Members had received the outstanding feedback from the previous meeting.  One item 
not updated was the request that members training attendance be recorded against their 
profiles on the website.   
A recent group leaders meeting agreed the request with recording of training attendance 
now published on the website.  
 
Moving forward, the next meeting on the 26 October 2021 had a busy agenda with 
reporting on the Climate Change Strategy along with an update on the Climate Change 
Assembly.  The agenda also included a report on inequalities within HMO’s along with 
the Q1 performance monitoring which could enable committee to identify future 
reporting.    A stakeholder meeting scheduled on the 17th September 2021 would allow 
Members to shape the Carbon Reduction Plan for Boston with a report to committee in 
December. 
Q2 would also be reporting in December to allow committee to plan its programme for 
the remainder of the year. 
 
Committee comment and suggestions for the work plan followed: 
 
A Member asked if it would be possible to look at the Councils’ Code of Conduct.  The 
Chairman confirmed that the Audit and Governance Committee would receive that 
report. 
 
Referencing the increase in electric cars in and around the town a Member asked if it 
would be possible to put charging points on Fish Hill in the town.  The Assistant Director 
– Regulation advised that such suggestions were for discussion at the stakeholder 
meeting on the 17th September.  
 
There being no further business, the Chairman thanked everybody for attending and 
closed the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 

The Meeting Closed at 8.50 pm 
 

Page 10



 

 

 

REPORT TO: ENVIRONMENT AND PERFORMANE COMMITTEE 

DATE: 26 OCTOBER 2021 

SUBJECT: DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY 

KEY DECISION: No 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: COUNCILLOR PAUL SKINNER 

REPORT AUTHOR: CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENT MANAGER 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: N/A 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

SUMMARY 

This report provides background to the accompanying draft Climate Change Strategy for the 

geographical area covered by the new South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership (SELCP). 

This document is the next step in our Climate Change aspirations, moving beyond the confines 

of our own carbon footprint and emissions to look at the wider issues for Climate Change in our 

local communities. South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership cannot deliver this strategy 

in isolation and a new South and East Lincolnshire Climate Action Network (SELCAN) will be 

established to bring together all relevant partners and ensure delivery at all levels as we work 

towards a net zero ambition. 

Cabinet was asked to agree the draft document to go out for public consultation this autumn, 

when they met on 20 October. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Environment and Performance Committee is asked to consider the draft Climate Change 

Strategy and provide feedback. 

 Page 11

Agenda Item 1



REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

To ensure Members are familiar with the content of the draft strategy prior to wider 

stakeholder engagement and to give an early opportunity to provide feedback.   

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

None. 

 

REPORT 

 

1. Background 
 
1.1. Since establishing Climate Change as a priority within the Corporate Strategy, Boston Borough 

Council has been working to understand its own impact in terms of carbon emissions and 
commissioned the Carbon Trust to produce a Carbon Reduction Plan. This is currently in 
progress and due to be presented to Cabinet in December 2021. As part of that process, the 
Council has also committed to reduce carbon emissions to net zero in advance of the UK 
Government whose target is to be net zero by 2050. 

 
1.2. The development of a Climate Change Strategy for the Borough as a whole was identified as 

the next step in the Climate Change and Environment Team work programme to take a wider 
view.  

 
1.3. In 2019, Environment and Performance Committee established the Climate Change Working 

Group and their resulting nine recommendations were adopted by Council in January 2020. 
Those recommendations included identifying that a citizen’s assembly should be established. 
Planning is now underway for a Climate Action Network which will take ownership of the 
Climate Change Strategy and lead delivery with the support of the Council. 

 
2. Overview of the Strategy 
 
2.1. Climate Change presents one of the biggest challenges facing our world today and action 

requires commitment and investment from all levels of society. 
 
2.2. The scope of emissions which is in the direct control of the Council is relatively limited but as a 

local authority it has an important role to play in driving forward and influencing the efforts 
required to ensure a sustainable future for our communities. 

 
2.3. This draft Climate Change Strategy is for South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 

(SELCP) and seeks to provide an overarching framework to reduce emissions as a whole across 
Boston, East Lindsey and South Holland. It identifies the strategic themes that are central to 
helping achieve the carbon reduction ambitions not just of the three Councils but of the UK as 
a whole as the nation seeks to be net zero by 2050. 

 
2.4. The inclusion of South Holland within the strategy has been taken very recently and so this 

current draft is ‘light touch’ at this time in terms of information relating to South Holland. As 
the consultation period progresses and further discussions are held, additional context will be 
added to ensure the document is as balanced as possible for the three Councils. The three-way 
approach will give greater strength in drawing down necessary funding as efforts can be 
shown to be based on a clear strategic need.   Page 12



 
2.5. It is envisaged that delivery of the Strategy will be the responsibility of a new South and East 

Lincolnshire Climate Action Network (SELCAN), with the support of SELCP. SELCAN will bring 
together stakeholder representatives from across the area including relevant authorities, 
business leaders, non-governmental organisations and communities. Careful thought will be 
given to managing this successfully given the geographical scale of the area it covers. 

 
2.6. The Strategy has used currently available data alongside recognised local priorities as the 

rationale for a number of key themes relevant to our area: Transport; Built Environment; 
Energy/Renewables; Business; Agriculture/Food; Water (Flood Risk and Drought) and Natural 
Environment. Under each theme, the key challenges and opportunities have been identified 
together with a series of strategic actions that need to be taken forward. These will form the 
basis of the delivery plan which it is intended SELCAN will coordinate once established. 

 
2.7. It is important to note that while the Strategy focuses on driving down carbon emissions, it 

also seeks to promote a more sustainable approach which as well as helping to address 
Climate Change issues, will bring wider benefits for our local communities including improved 
health and wellbeing outcomes, economic prosperity and social value. 

 
3. Consultation and next steps 
 
3.1. It is important if this Strategy is to succeed that it reflects the aspirations of our local area and 

engagement in its development is therefore key. 
 
3.2. In order to achieve this, it is intended a period of public consultation on the draft Strategy will 

be held in November/December 2021. Stakeholder workshops will also be arranged with 
attendees tasked at looking at the individual themes in detail and given the opportunity to 
bring forward anything they feel has been missed. 

 
3.3. Following the consultation period, a revised Climate Change Strategy will be compiled and 

brought back to Cabinet in early 2022 seeking recommendation of its approval to Council.  
 
3.4. Once Council has approved the document, the newly established SELCAN will be asked to 

adopt the Strategy and move forward with the delivery plan. 
 

CONCLUSION 
 

By taking the lead on developing a Climate Change Strategy for South and East Lincolnshire, the 

Councils of Boston, East Lindsey and South Holland are sending a clear message both locally, and 

nationally, that they are committed to playing their part in tackling the challenges Climate Change 

presents. Success cannot be achieved in isolation and in fostering new relationships and 

strengthening existing ones, the three Councils will promote a coordinated and collaborative 

approach to addressing a global issue. Successful delivery of this Strategy will ultimately lead to 

more vibrant, cohesive and healthier communities which appreciate the importance of a balanced, 

sustainable future in delivering multiple benefits for everyone. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

There are no immediate financial implications for the Council arising from approval of this draft 
strategy. A small cost outlay will be required to deliver the public consultation/stakeholder 
engagement but this can be managed within existing budgets. 
 

 Page 13



LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Local authorities have a legal responsibility to agree plans and targets in line with the provisions 

of the Climate Change Act 2008. Not doing so could leave the Council open to legal challenge. 

 

RISK IMPLICATIONS  
 
None. 
 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

The Climate Change Strategy will not only have a positive impact on driving down carbon 

emissions across the Borough of Boston but it will deliver outcomes that support all four key 

themes of the Council’s adopted Environment Policy to protect and enhance our natural 

environment, adapt and mitigate to climate change, enhance our built environment and ensure 

a sustainable approach to waste and resource management. 

Annual emissions figures for the Borough are compiled by the Department for Business, Energy 

and Industrial Strategy and continual reductions need to be achieved as we all play our part in 

achieving the UK’s commitment to be net zero by 2050. 

 

EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS 

None. 

 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS  

None. 

 

CONSULTATION 

Consultation has been undertaken with the relevant Portfolio Holder and Cabinet was asked to 

agree the draft strategy for consultation at its meeting on 20 October. Corporate Management 

Team and Service Managers have also been given the opportunity to provide initial feedback on 

the document. 

Informal discussions have also been held with the Cabinet members at South Holland District 

Council.  

As outlined in the report, consultation on the document will continue throughout 2021 to ensure 

maximum engagement and buy-in to the Strategy both internally and externally. 

 

 

 

Page 14



 

 

 

APPENDICES 

APPENDIX A Draft Climate Change Strategy 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Environment Policy https://www.mybostonuk.com/environment-policy-

2021/ 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Sarah Baker 

Climate Change and Environment Manager 

Signed off by: Christian Allen 

AD Regulation 

Approved for publication: Cllr Paul Skinner 

Leader and Portfolio Holder 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 15



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page is blank 

 

Page 16



CLIMATE CHANGE 
STRATEGY 

DRAFT

served by One Team

P
age 17



2 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Contents
Foreword ....................................................................................................................... 3

Introduction ................................................................................................................ 3

Setting the context ................................................................................................... 4

The Vision ..................................................................................................................... 6

The current picture for South Holland, Boston and East Lindsey ............... 6

How is South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership  
leading by example ................................................................................................... 9

Tackling Climate Change across South Holland, Boston and  
East Lindsey ...............................................................................................................11

Delivering this Strategy .........................................................................................18

Glossary ......................................................................................................................20

Supporting Documents ..........................................................................................21

P
age 18



3 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Foreword Introduction

Climate Change is widely considered to be one of, if not the 
greatest, challenge facing our society.

Its impact is already being felt, most noticeably through the increasing occurrence of 
extreme weather events such as exceptional rainfall and rising temperatures. Responding 
to the challenges and finding ways to slow down further changes are tasks which 
will take time and require input at all scales from local through to international, from 
individual actions to policy changes at the highest levels.

Local authorities are well placed to drive forward and influence the action required. 
Through the services we deliver, the strategic and regulatory functions we provide and 
through our position as community leaders we can help to educate, guide and implement 
some of the changes we must make as a society to play our part but we will need to 
work together to achieve what is required.

Many of the possible approaches have multiple benefits in not only building resilience 
and driving down emissions, but also in helping to deliver positive outcomes for the 
natural environment and the health and wellbeing of our communities. It is imperative 
that we re-frame the issue of Climate Change to one which demonstrates how taking 
action can improve quality of life for everyone.

The purpose of this Climate Change Strategy is to provide direction around how to 
achieve a more sustainable future across South Holland, Boston and East Lindsey as we 
all work towards a shared net zero target. That must ensure an approach that balances 
economic, social and environmental considerations equally. It is heavily focused on 
mitigation - actions to reduce the impact of human activity on the climate system, 

primarily through reducing greenhouse gas emissions - but some degree of Climate 
Change is still inevitable and adaptation will also have an important role to play.

P
age 19



4 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Setting the Context
The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) 
defines Climate Change as, “A change of climate which is attributed directly or 

indirectly to human activity that alters the composition of the global atmosphere 

and which is in addition to natural climate variability observed over comparable 

time periods.” 

They key cause of human contribution to Climate Change is through the 
increased production of Greenhouse Gases (GHGs). GHGs such as carbon 
dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide occur naturally in the Earth’s atmosphere, 
trapping heat and energy from the sun in a process known as the ‘greenhouse 
effect’. Increases to GHG emissions push up levels of heat and energy in the 
Earth’s atmosphere, causing a rise in global temperatures.

To give an indication of how things have changed, carbon dioxide levels in the 
atmosphere are greater than they have been at any point in the last 800,000 
years. The last time the Earth saw similar levels was around 4-million years ago 
when the average temperature was 2-4°C warmer than today, and the sea level 
was 10-25m higher1. 

International Context
The Paris Agreement is a legally binding international treaty on Climate Change 
adopted by 196 parties, including the UK Government, at COP 21 in December 
2015. Its goal is to limit global warming to well below a 2°C increase, preferably 
to a 1.5°C increase, compared to pre-industrial levels.

In response to that decision, the United Nations Intergovernmental Panel on 
Climate Change (IPCC) published a special report in 2018 on the impact a 1.5°C 
rise in global temperatures would have on our planet and the critical steps that 
needed to be taken to try and keep rises below that level.

Action by the UK Government
The 2008 Climate Change Act set out a legal framework for the UK to cut 
greenhouse gas emissions to 80% below 1990 levels by 2050. It represented the first 
global, legally-binding Climate Change mitigation target to be made by a country. 

The Act also established the Committee on Climate Change (CCC), an 
independent body which provides evidence-based advice to Government.  In 
2019, the CCC published its own report, supporting the findings of the IPCC 
and advising the UK Government to revise its long term 2050 carbon emissions. 
This saw a new target adopted to cut GHG emissions to net zero by 2050 with 
the UK Government becoming the first country to nationally declare a Climate 
Emergency in May 2019.

As the UK prepared to host the COP26 climate summit in 2021, the UK’s sixth 
carbon budget set out the world’s most ambitious Climate Change target to 
reduce emissions by 78% by 2035 compared to 1990 levels, with the budget 
also incorporating the UK’s share of international aviation and shipping 
emissions for the first time.1 Siegert, M., Haywood, A. Lunt, D., van de Flierdt, T., Francis, J. (2020) What ancient climates tell us 

about high carbon dioxide concentrations in Earth’s atmosphere, Grantham Institute Briefing Note 
13, Imperial College London. https://doi.org/10.25561/79292.

P
age 20



5 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

The Local Picture
It is important to try and translate all that is happening at a national and global 
scale into meaningful action at a local level.

In Lincolnshire, while all local authorities are moving at different paces, there 
is a shared common goal to not only achieve net zero but to achieve a more 
sustainable way of living that protects and improves our communities. Those 
involved with Climate Change across the county are working closely together 
to ensure we are sharing knowledge and learning from each other. Lincolnshire 
County Council launched its Green Masterplan in 2020 to set out the guiding 
principles of how we can collectively meet the challenges and opportunities 
Climate Change presents. These are:

• Don’t waste anything - working toward a circular economy

• Consider wider opportunities - working in partnership to share funding, 
experience and networks and prevent duplication of effort.

• Take responsibility and pride - to cherish, protect and improve the county 
we have many reasons to be proud of

Net Zero defined
Many different terms are often associated with reducing emissions but it is 
important to understand the distinctions between them.

Achieving net zero emissions means to pursue an ambitious 1.5°C aligned 
science-based target for full value chain emissions i.e. Scope 1, 2 and 3 
emissions. Where any residual emissions remain these can be offset with 
certified Greenhouse Gas removal mechanisms such as tree planting or carbon 
capture technology.

Scope Emission 
Type

Definition Examples

Scope 1 Direct 
Emissions

Emissions from sources directly 
owned or controlled by the 
reporting body

Natural gas, fleet

Scope 2 Indirect 
Emissions

Indirect emissions from the 
generation of purchased energy 
consumed by the reporting body

Electricity

Scope 3 Upstream and downstream 
emissions that occur in the value 
chain of the reporting body

Business travel and 
commuting, waste, 
water, procured 
goods and services

This contrasts with, for example, carbon neutral targets which may not account 
for all emissions Scopes and which allow emissions to be offset by high quality, 
certified carbon credits.

P
age 21



6 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Carbon Management Hierarchy
The key priority in seeking to reduce emissions is that there should be a 
hierarchical approach to their management which seeks to eliminate them as far 
as possible, followed by carbon and energy reduction and then by substitution 
measures such as low-carbon alternatives like renewable energy. Compensation 
measures are then the final step once other options have been exhausted.

These principles are best outlined in the IEMA Greenhouse Gas Management 
Hierarchy (updated 2020):

ELIMINATE • Influence business decisions / use to prevent GHG 
emissions across the lifecycle

• Potential exists when organisations change, expand, 
rationalise or move business

• Transition to new business model, alternative operation 
or new product/service

REDUCE • Real and relative (per unit) reductions in carbon and 
energy

• Efficiency in operations, processes, fleet and energy 
management

• Optimise approaches (e.g. technology and digital as 
enablers)

SUBSTITUTE • Adopt renewables/low carbon technologies (on site, 
transport, etc)

• Reduce carbon (GHG) intensity of energy use and of 
energy purchased

• Purchase inputs and services with lower embodied/
embedded emissions

COMPENSATE • Compensate ‘unavoidable’ residual emissions (removals, 
offsets etc)

• Investigate land management, value chain, asset sharing, 
carbon credits

• Support climate action and developing carbon markets

The Vision

The areas covered by South Holland District Council,  
Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey District 
Council achieve net zero emissions in advance of the 
UK Government. In doing so, action supports social, 
economic and environmental outcomes that help 
adapt and mitigate to climate change and build a more 
sustainable future for our local communities.

The current picture for South 
Holland, Boston and East Lindsey
Carbon dioxide (CO2) is the main greenhouse gas, accounting for 80% of GHG 
emissions in the UK in 20192. Data published by the Department for Business, 
Energy and Industrial Strategy on an annual basis provides the latest estimates 
of end-user CO2 emissions for local authority areas in the UK.

2 UK local authority carbon dioxide emissions estimates 2019

P
age 22



7 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

South Holland
Emissions in South Holland reduced by 25.8% between 2005 and 2019. The 
three largest contributing sectors are transport, domestic properties and land 
use, land use change and forestry.

kt CO2 
(2019)

Detail

Transport 190.7 Emissions include freight and passenger transport, 
both for private and business purposes

Housing 140.5 Emissions from energy consumption in and around 
the home

Land Use, 
Land Use 
Change and 
Forestry 
(LULUCF)

109.2 Emissions/removals of CO2 from changes in the 
carbon stock in forestland, cropland, grassland, 
wetlands, settlements and harvested wood 
products, and of other greenhouse gases from 
drainage (excl. croplands and intensive grasslands) 
and rewetting of soils, nitrogen mineralisation 
associated with loss and gain of soil organic matter, 
and fires.

Industrial 91.1 Emissions from businesses defined as UK Standard 
Industrial Classification (SIC07) subsections 01-32, 
35-39 & 42

Commercial 44.3 All other SIC07 subsections

Agriculture 20.1 Emissions of greenhouse gases from livestock, 
agricultural soils (excluding carbon stock changes 
which are included in the LULUCF sector) and 
agricultural machinery.

Public Sector 7.2 Emissions from the combustion of fuel in public 
sector buildings, e.g., hospitals and schools. SIC07 
subsections 84-87.

TOTAL 603.1

Boston
In Boston, emissions reduced by 35.29% between 2005 and 2019. Transport and 
domestic properties are again the main two contributors with emissions from 
industry also coming in the top three for emissions.

kt CO2 
(2019)

Detail

Transport 117.5 Emissions include freight and passenger transport, 
both for private and business purposes

Housing 94.9 Emissions from energy consumption in and around 
the home

Industrial 52.8 Emissions from businesses defined as UK Standard 
Industrial Classification (SIC07) subsections 01-32, 
35-39 & 42

Commercial 21.9 All other SIC07 subsections

Agriculture 9.5 Emissions of greenhouse gases from livestock, 
agricultural soils (excluding carbon stock changes 
which are included in the LULUCF sector) and 
agricultural machinery.

Public Sector 8.7 Emissions from the combustion of fuel in public 
sector buildings, e.g., hospitals and schools. SIC07 
subsections 84-87.

LULUCF 8.3 Emissions/removals of CO2 from changes in the 
carbon stock in forestland, cropland, grassland, 
wetlands, settlements and harvested wood 
products, and of other greenhouse gases from 
drainage (excl. croplands and intensive grasslands) 
and rewetting of soils, nitrogen mineralisation 
associated with loss and gain of soil organic matter, 
and fires. 

TOTAL 313.7

P
age 23



8 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

3 Gouldson, A. Sudmant, A. Duncan, A. (2019). “A summary carbon roadmap for Boston”. Place 
based Climate Action Network, https://pcancities.org.uk/

East Lindsey
Emissions in East Lindsey reduced by 27.31% between 2005 and 2019. The 
three largest contributing sectors are transport, domestic properties and land 
use, land use change and forestry.

kt CO2 
(2019)

Detail

Transport 274.2 Emissions include freight and passenger transport, 
both for private and business purposes.

Housing 224.9 Emissions from energy consumption in and around 
the home

Land Use, 
Land Use 
Change and 
Forestry 
(LULUCF)

174.0 Emissions/removals of CO2 from changes in the 
carbon stock in forestland, cropland, grassland, 
wetlands, settlements and harvested wood products, 
and of other greenhouse gases from drainage (excl. 
croplands and intensive grasslands) and rewetting 
of soils, nitrogen mineralisation associated with loss 
and gain of soil organic matter, and fires.

Industrial 90 Emissions from businesses defined as UK Standard 
Industrial Classification (SIC07) subsections 01-32, 
35-39 & 42.

Commercial 66.2 All other SIC07 subsections.

Agriculture 49.9 Emissions of greenhouse gases from livestock, 
agricultural soils (excluding carbon stock changes 
which are included in the LULUCF sector) and 
agricultural machinery.

Public Sector 15.1 Emissions from the combustion of fuel in public 
sector buildings, e.g., hospitals and schools. SIC07 
subsections 84-87.

TOTAL 894.2

The Inter-governmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) has argued that from 
2020, keeping within a global carbon budget of 344 billion tonnes of GHG 
emissions would give us a 66% chance of limiting average warming to 1.5 
degrees and therefore avoiding dangerous levels of climate change.

If we divide this global figure up on an equal basis by population, this gives East 
Lindsey a total carbon budget of 6 megatonnes (i.e. 6 million tonnes) from 20203.

Based only on the fuel and electricity used within its boundaries, East Lindsey 
currently emits c.0.8 million tonnes of carbon a year, meaning that it would use 
up its carbon budget in just over 7.5 years.

With on-going decarbonisation of electricity, and taking into account population 
and economic growth, it is projected that East Lindsey’s 2005 level of emissions 
will have fallen by 44% by 2050. If however it is to stay within its carbon 
budget, East Lindsey needs to reduce its emissions by 9.5% year on year.

Business As Usual and Science-based pathway for East Lindsey.

P
age 24



9 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Similarly, Boston has a budget of 3 megatonnes (i.e. 3 million tonnes) which at 
current rates would be exhausted in 9 years. However, Boston could stay within 
its carbon budget by reducing its emissions by 8.2% year on year.

Business As Usual and Science-based pathway for Boston.

The carbon budget for South Holland is currently being calculated.

How is South and East Lincolnshire 
Councils Partnership leading by 
example?

Focus 1: Reduce the carbon footprint of our 
own activities
Both East Lindsey District Council (ELDC) and Boston Borough Council (BBC) 
have engaged the Carbon Trust to produce Carbon Reduction Plans for their own 
operations. The ELDC plan was adopted in November 2019 and the BBC plan is 
due to be finalised in Autumn 2021. 

Both Councils have adopted net zero commitments in advance of the UK 
Government with ELDC specifying a target to reduce emissions from its own 
operations by 45% by 2027 and to net zero by 2040. Action Plans setting out 
the projects and initiatives required to deliver the reductions needed are being 
implemented to ensure progress remains on track.

Adapting and mitigating to climate change requires an holistic approach to 
sustainability in addition to emissions reductions. Both Councils have agreed 
priorities within their Corporate Strategies in relation to tackling climate change. 
New Environment Policies have also been adopted to set out the framework for 
how they will work to protect the natural environment for residents and visitors.

South Holland District Council joined with Boston and East Lindsey to form the 
South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership (SELCP) in September 2021. 
This provides an opportunity to understand existing actions the Council has 

P
age 25



10 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

taken which contribute to the agenda whilst also working closely with Boston 
and East Lindsey to identify opportunities to align policy and processes where 
appropriate.

Leading by example is key and through both existing service provision and 
new developments and initiatives we will ensure implications for our carbon 
footprints are fully considered from the outset.

Focus 2: Support and facilitate partnership 
working of stakeholders throughout South 
Holland, Boston and East Lindsey to take 
action to achieve net zero emissions across the 
Strategic Alliance area
All three Councils have a key role to play in both leading by example and 
supporting the wider community to deliver this climate change strategy. While 
their sphere of influence is limited, they are well placed to drive and influence 
change through the services they deliver, as trusted community leaders and 
through their regulatory and strategic functions. Key activities will include:

• Support the vulnerable and fuel-poor households with energy efficiency 
measures

• Local Plans that supports sustainable development and climate change 
adaptation/mitigation

• Guidance for businesses on adaptation to climate change

• Work with businesses to understand and reduce their carbon footprints

• Support town and parish councils to take action at a local level

• Identify strategic sites for biodiversity net gain and carbon offsetting 
initiatives

• Strengthen and enhance existing ecological networks to build resilience 
to climate change

• Ensure spatial planning plays a key role in the transition to a low-carbon 
society

Focus 3: Climate Change Adaptation
Adaptation: Adjustments to natural or human systems in response to the 
actual or anticipated impacts of climate change, to mitigate harm or 
exploit beneficial opportunities.

• Undertake a comprehensive risk-based assessment of vulnerabilities to 
weather and climate within the SELCP area

• Develop an adaptation plan that details the SELCP’s response to the 
evidence of our changing climate

• Review procurement procedures to embed adaptation and mitigation 
approaches into key contracts and services

• Ensure effective partnership working to address climate change risks 
across administrative boundaries

P
age 26



11 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Tackling Climate Change across 
South Holland, Boston and East 
Lindsey
The scope of emissions that is in the direct control or influence of the three 
councils is relatively small. This strategy seeks to provide an overarching 
framework to reduce emissions as a whole across South Holland, Boston and 
East Lindsey.

A number of strategic themes have been identified as central to the road to net 
zero, but achieving the necessary outcomes will need cross sector input from a 
wide range of stakeholders working towards a common goal.

Many of the themes will also involve a number of cross-cutting elements and 
taking forward action will require an holistic view of the interdependencies and 
multiple benefits that are at play.

Key themes

Transport

Built Environment

Energy/Renewables

Business

Agriculture/Food

Water  
(Flood Risk and Drought)

Natural Environment

P
age 27



12 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Transport

Emissions from the transport sector are the largest contributors to the carbon 
footprints of the SELCP area accounting for 37% of Boston’s total emissions, 
32% of South Holland’s and 31% of East Lindsey’s. Emissions attributable to 
transport across all three areas are rising as a proportion of all emissions. 

Reducing emissions and the promotion of more sustainable travel solutions are 
included to some extent in existing travel plans and strategies in the county with 
a new Lincolnshire Transport Plan due to be adopted in early 2022. A Ultra-Low 
Emission Vehicle Strategy is currently in progress and set to be agreed in 2021.

An Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) currently exists at Haven Bridge and 
Boston Borough Council coordinates an Action Plan which includes steps that 
will achieve mutually beneficial outcomes.

Challenges/Opportunities

Development of the Port of Boston as a fresh fruit and vegetables hub is already 
starting to tackle the need for lower carbon supply chains. Furthermore, Town 
Deals for both Boston and Skegness include plans to enhance their respective 
railway stations along with the growth of walking and cycling options.

A large number of businesses, particularly in the agri-food supply chain across 
Boston and South Holland, rely on the road network to support their operations 
to ensure timely delivery and dispatch of produce.

The rural nature of the area means limited public transport networks will make 
decarbonising transport a challenging task in the years ahead with residents 

often having to travel several kilometres to access key services such as doctors 
and supermarkets. While electric vehicles provide one option, as technology 
advances it is likely there will be a mixture of solutions adopted.

Strategic actions
• Prioritise the development of an EV policy/strategy for ensuring correct 

positioning of charging infrastructure across the area based on modelling 
current and predicted future requirements

• Maximise the potential of public transport links together with walking 
and cycling options and explore opportunities to decarbonise public 
transport through new and emerging technology.

• Promote both the continuation and expansion of new ways of working 
developed during the Covid-19 pandemic, to reduce the need for regular 
commuting and unnecessary travel

Built Environment

Emissions from energy consumption in and around domestic properties is the 
second largest contributor to carbon emissions across the area. Without action 
emissions in this sector are predicted to increase by 2050 by as much 8% across 
South Holland, Boston and East Lindsey.

The challenges in this sector going forward are two-fold: both ensuring that new 
builds and retrofits of existing properties are fit for the future but also ensuring 
that developments continue to be considered economically viable once new 
technologies are incorporated.

P
age 28



13 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

The communities of South and East Lincolnshire are rural in nature with high 
proportions of off-gas grid properties still reliant on solid-fuel systems. A 
range of initiatives will be required to educate and find solutions to alternative 
methods of heating residents’ homes.

Challenges/Opportunities

Currently all new developments must meet the energy efficiency standards 
required by UK Building Regulations. The Government is consulting on updated 
standards for new homes which are expected to include a ban on gas boilers 
from 2025 amongst other measures.

Engagement with developers will be key to finding solutions which will enable 
the development of affordable, energy efficient homes.

There is also an increasing understanding of the need to reduce embodied 
carbon in new build and retrofit schemes and this is likely to gain further 
traction in the next few years.

Strategic actions
• Embed climate change mitigation and adaptation within strategic 

planning policies

• Encourage and promote efficient use of energy in the home

• Foster exemplar approaches to sustainable design and adaptive 
technologies

• Support residents to access available funding to improve energy 
efficiency and reduce fuel poverty

• Encourage a better understanding of current embodied carbon levels within 
new developments and work with the industry to identify low carbon 
alternatives and where offsetting options may need to be developed

Energy/Renewables

Taken as a whole across the different sectors, energy consumption is the largest 
source of emissions across the area. Whether through the heating of private 
or public sector property or through energy usage as part of industrial and 
commercial processes, there will need to be significant changes to the way 
energy is both produced and consumed.

In terms of energy demand, South Holland, East Lindsey and Boston all perform 
poorly on fuel poverty with all three having a higher percentage of households 
in fuel poverty than the national average.

A key challenge for the whole area is in terms of network capacity which at 
times are currently presenting a barrier to renewable generation and storage. 
Engagement with the Distribution Network Operators will be essential as will 
the ability to project accurately potential expansion and take up of particular 
technologies to ensure the energy infrastructure is able to meet demand.

Challenges/Opportunities

Nationally, renewable energy generation continues to grow with 42% of 
electricity produced in 2020 from wind, solar, water and wood compared with 
41% generated from gas and coal plants. If this growth on the path to net 
zero is to continue however, small scale renewables solutions together with 
larger scale developments are going to be essential to achieving the net zero 
aspirations. 

P
age 29



14 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Strategic actions
• Prioritise the development of appropriate Local Area Energy Plan(s)

• To increase the proportion of energy generated by renewable sources 
across the SELCP area

• Encourage and promote viable decentralised energy opportunities and 
renewables options where appropriate

• Achieve a future-proofed energy distribution network without constraints 
which supports new connections and storage initiatives

• Support businesses and householders to install renewable energy systems

Business

Emissions from industrial and commercial activities combined make up another 
significant proportion of the carbon footprint of the SELCP area.

The employment share by sector can be broken down as shown below, with 
key areas including public admin, education and health; wholesale and retail; 
business, financial and professional services and manufacturing. The main 
difference is the significant proportion of accommodation and food services 
employment in East Lindsey.

Challenges/Opportunities

Since the height of the Covid-19 pandemic in early 2020, many businesses 
have adopted new ways of working in particular with many employees working 
from home and reducing business travel. Harnessing those gains needs to be 
continued to ensure a green recovery.

Consumers have a large power of influence and businesses are set to see 
increasing pressure to meet the challenges and opportunities of moving towards 
circular economy - reducing waste and protecting natural resources.

Strategic actions
• Encourage sustainable procurement practices that support local supply 

chains and fosters the building of a circular economy

• Support and advise local businesses on understanding their current 
carbon footprint and identifying routes to decarbonise their operations

• Promote and foster opportunities for businesses to grow and develop 
within the low carbon and renewables sector

• Introduce Carbon Charter Award scheme for businesses to showcase their 
climate change credentials

P
age 30



15 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Agriculture/Food

Agriculture is one of the dominant industries across the South and East 
Lincolnshire Councils Partnership area. The Agri-Food industry as a whole plays a 
major role in the region’s economy and the development of a South Lincolnshire 
Food Enterprise Zone at Holbeach aims to promote innovation within the sector 
including areas such as low carbon technology. 

The sector has a relatively unique position in being able to influence both 
emissions and sequestration of GHGs. Unlike most other sectors however, only 
around 10% of emissions are carbon dioxide with nitrous dioxide and methane 
making up the majority. These can be more complex to address because of the 
involvement of natural processes.

Arable cropping and salad/vegetables are the primary production types across 
the area but there are also a number of livestock operations.

Farmed area by type (hectares)

No. of 
holdings

Farmed 
area

Cereals Arable 
(exc 
cereals)

Fruit and 
Veg

Grassland

Boston 277 31,894 10,969 8,274 7,149 3,368

East 
Lindsey

1,131 145,462 70,540 36,576 6,237 21,097

South 
Holland

608 64,062 30,050 18,806 7,126 3,395

P
age 31



16 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Challenges/Opportunities

Agriculture is not only well placed to lead on changes to reduce emissions. 
Farmers are also the custodians of our natural environment and have an 
important role to play in nature’s recovery with innovative solutions offering the 
opportunity to deliver multiple benefits to society.

There will be challenges ahead as the impact of our diets on climate change 
continues to undergo scrutiny and a new Agriculture Bill seeks to deliver 
significant changes to the way farm support is delivered.

Strategic actions
• Promote and support innovation in the farming sector to enable more 

sustainable farming practices

• Educate and encourage residents to access affordable, local and seasonal 
food through promoting local supply chains and food markets

• Identify opportunities and support farmers to access mechanisms to 
enable less productive land to be used for environmental schemes which 
also deliver multiple benefits to society

Water  
(Flood Risk and Drought)

Water is a key theme because it covers not only consumption and resource 
management but also flood risk from coastal inundation, rivers and surface 
water.

The South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership area is particularly 
vulnerable to climate change impacts because of a relatively low rainfall and its 
low-lying nature with a long coastline. 

In East Lindsey alone, 38% of the District is at risk from coastal inundation 
alone, with additional risk over coming from surface water flooding i.e. from 
rivers, drains and localised flooding.

Across the area, the considerable risk of flooding is substantially reduced by the 
work of internal drainage boards in partnership with other bodies such as the 
Environment Agency.

Challenges/Opportunities

Climate change is expected to lead to warmer and drier summers together with 
milder and wetter winters and the ability to manage water to ensure supply is 
available where and when it is needed is essential.

Given the area’s coastal geography, sea level rise undoubtedly presents one of 
the biggest challenges for the future and partnership working will be vital to 
ensuring effective adaptation and mitigation strategies.

P
age 32



17 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Strategic actions
• Promote technologies and behaviours that reduce water consumption 

across all domestic and commercial sectors

• Work with developers to reduce water consumption demand in new 
builds and conversions

• Support initiatives to improve the management of waterways and coastal 
areas to reduce flood risk and benefit the natural environment

• Ensure strategic partnership working delivers long-term coastal change 
management and planning, as well as building resilience to communities 
at risk of coastal and riverine flooding through adaptation and mitigation 
with clear lines of communication between all parties

Natural Environment

Climate change will add to the increasing pressures on our natural environment 
but if managed correctly, the natural environment can also play a key role in 
how we mitigate for and adapt to the challenges it presents.

The SELCP area is fortunate to be home to Lincolnshire Wolds Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty with the internationally important estuaries of The 
Wash and The Humber on its doorstep. It has a total of 74 designated sites of 
national/international importance.

There are also 514 locally designated biodiversity and geodiversity sites in South 
Holland, Boston and East Lindsey although just 41% are considered as being 
‘positively’ managed - the vast majority are in Boston and South Holland.

Challenges/Opportunities

Carbon sequestration, water storage, water quality, flood protection and urban 
cooling can all be delivered through a well-managed natural environment 
together with a range of societal benefits such as green tourism and improved 
health and wellbeing.

A new Environment Bill looks set to give local authorities an important role to 
play in nature’s recovery not only through putting spatial planning for nature on 
a statutory footing but also in working in partnership to ensure a Local Nature 
Recovery Strategy delivers action which enables both nature and people to 
thrive.

Strategic actions
• Encourage and promote land use change and management decisions that 

help both nature and people mitigate and adapt to climate change

• Work in partnership to ensure gains for the natural environment are 
delivered in a strategic manner with long-term plans to ensure effective 
management is maintained

• Where tree planting is part of the solution, ensure a ‘right tree in the right 
place’ approach is taken

• Promote and understanding of the economic benefits that a well-
managed natural environment can bring to the SELCP area

P
age 33



18 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Delivering this Strategy
The South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership is well placed to facilitate 
the delivery of this strategy but this can only be achieved with the full support 
of stakeholders from across the public and private sector together with local 
community engagement.

Meeting the net zero ambition of the UK as a whole will require action on 
every level but will only achieve the necessary results through education, 
through sharing knowledge and best practice and ultimately through working in 
partnership.

South and East Lincolnshire Climate Action 
Network (SELCAN)
The key delivery mechanism for taking forward this strategy will be through 
the establishment of the South and East Lincolnshire Climate Action Network 
(SELCAN). Facilitated by three Councils, SELCAN will bring together private, 
public and community sectors to jointly tackle climate change.

Its remit will be to drive strategic thinking and promote on the ground delivery 
and implementation of projects to reduce emissions across South Holland, 
Boston and East Lindsey and build a more sustainable future.

Representation will be through a number of seats identified for each key sector, 
designed to provide a cross section across the area. SELCAN will meet quarterly 
but may choose to establish small working groups where issues are felt to be 
particularly sector or geographically specific.

SELCAN will be an independent body which owns, monitors and reviews 
progress against the strategy with secretariat provided by South Holland District 
Council, Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey District Council.

Communications
This strategy has been produced by the South and East Lincolnshire Councils 
Partnership but is a strategy for the whole area.

The success of its delivery is dependent on:

• The effectiveness of the leadership and the commitment within the 
public sector and private sector in working towards a net zero future

• Every individual, business and organisation in South Holland, Boston 
and East Lindsey being aware of the challenges ahead and having an 
understanding of the actions that can be taken

• Effective engagement with everyone making effective, lasting, cultural 
changes to play their part in a net zero future

To this end, communication will be key and the engagement plan sets out the 
outcomes that need to be achieved:

P
age 34



19 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

How will this be achieved? Timescale How will it be monitored?

Ensure every individual, business and organisation is aware of 
the Climate Change Strategy and what it seeks to achieve

Media campaign, public 
consultation, engagement events, 
e-Messenger

Next 12 
months

Engagement with consultation and events

People living and working in South Holland, Boston and East 
Lindsey understand climate change and its potential impacts 
on our area

Media campaigns, engagement 
events, 

1-3 years Climate change questions included in residents 
surveys. Responses can be compared

All sectors are actively participating in SELCAN and working 
to achieve a cultural change towards a sustainable future for 
Boston and East Lindsey

Direct approaches to key sector 
representatives, online presence, 
strong partnership working, 
SELCAN ambassadors

1-3 years Monitored by numbers of stakeholders 
pro-actively participating in SELCAN with 
representation across the identified sectors

Individuals, businesses and organisations understand where 
they can make a difference and are seeking to play their part

Workshops, business networks, 
toolkits for key sectors

1-3 years Feedback from events and workshops  
Number of enquiries received

South Holland, Boston and East Lindsey are recognised as 
exemplars in how everyone is working together to achieve the 
net zero ambitions of the nation

Carbon Charter Awards, media 
campaigns on success stories, BEIS 
statistics

3-5 years Engagement with Awards, publicity achieved, 
reductions in annual BEIS figures for Boston and 
East Lindsey

P
age 35



20 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Glossary
Biodiversity net gain - an approach to development and/or land management, 
that aims to leave the natural environment in a measurably better state than it 
was beforehand.

Carbon budget - the quantity of greenhouse gas emissions that can be emitted 
in total over a specified time by a given entity in line with scientific targets to 
keep within certain temperature increase

Carbon credits - a term used to describe a tradeable certificate or permit giving 
the holder a right to emit a measured amount of greenhouse gas.

Carbon footprint - the total greenhouse gas emissions resulting from the 
activities of individual, event, organisation, service or product expressed as 
carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e).

Carbon offsetting - a mechanism used to compensate for greenhouse gas 
emissions made elsewhere through. Usually through a body funding activities or 
projects that improve or enhance the environment or buying carbon credits to 
balance out the emissions from their own operations.

Carbon neutral - a process of reducing greenhouse gas emissions which allows 
for offsetting through the purchase of high quality, certified carbon credits

Circular economy - an economic system aimed at eliminating waste by keeping 
resources in use for as long as possible, extracting the maximum value from 
them while in use, then recovering and regenerating products and materials at 
the end of their life.

Carbon sequestration - the process of capturing and storing atmospheric 
carbon dioxide

Decentralised energy - projects which generate, use and store energy off the 
main grid including micro-renewables, heating and cooling networks

Ecological networks - the composition of core areas of habitats and corridors 
such as hedgerows or watercourses which enable the free movement of species 
throughout a landscape

Embodied carbon - the total greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions generated to 
produce a built asset. 

Fuel poverty - a situation where a household has fuel costs that are above the 
national average and in spending that amount are left with a residual income 
below the official poverty line.

Greenhouse Gases - gases in the Earth’s atmosphere that trap heat. The main 
greenhouse gases are Carbon Dioxide (CO2), Methane (CH4) and Nitrous Oxide 
(NO2) and are usually expressed in terms of  their Carbon Dioxide equivalent 
value (CO2e)

Local Area Energy Plan - a data driven approach which brings together the 
decarbonisation of heat, transport and power by incorporating in interactions 
and impact on the energy network in a given spatial area

Local Nature Recovery Strategy - spatial strategies which establish priorities 
and map proposals for specific actions to drive nature’s recovery and provide 
wider environmental benefits

Net zero - a process of reducing greenhouse gas emissions whereby any residual 
emissions that remain these can be offset with certified greenhouse gas removal 
mechanisms such as tree planting or carbon capture technology.

Residual emissions - any emissions which remain after all technically and 
economically feasible opportunities have been implemented

Science-based target - a carbon emissions target which is in line with the scale 
of reductions required to keep global temperature increases below 2°C above 
pre-industrial temperatures.

P
age 36



21 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Scope 1 emissions - direct emissions from sources directly owned or controlled 
by the reporting body such as fleet vehicles or natural gas consumption

Scope 2 emissions - indirect emissions from the generation of purchased 
energy such as electricity

Scope 3 emissions - indirect emissions that occur in the value chain of an 
organisation, be that upstream or downstream, such as business travel, waste 
disposal or water consumption

Urban cooling - a range of methods used to lower temperatures in built-up 
area and reduce the impact of the urban heat island effect

P
age 37



CLIMATE CHANGE 
STRATEGY 

DRAFT

P
age 38



 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: ENVIRONMENT AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 

DATE: 26 October 2021 

SUBJECT: 

KEY DECISION: 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

Work Programme   

No 

N/A 

REPORT AUTHOR: Madam Chairman Councillor Judith Skinner 

WARDS AFFECTED: All 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

 
 

SUMMARY 
 

The work programme is a standing item at all meetings and is particularly important at the 
start of the new Municipal Year, when Members look to populate the programme for the 
full year ahead and beyond. 
 
This report includes the Quarter 1 performance monitoring at Appendix A. 
 

The work programme for 2021/22 is attached to the report at Appendix B.  Members may 
take the opportunity to put forward potential items for the Committee’s scrutiny for 
discussion at the meeting.  In addition, the current Forward Plan is attached at Appendix B 
to assist with Members’ deliberations. 
 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
That Committee members consider the work programme attached at Appendix A and 
consider if any future scrutiny is necessary on any subject identified.   All members may 
request a report on any subject matter pertinent to this committee’s remit directly to the 
Chairman or the clerk.  
 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 39

Agenda Item 3



 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
The remit of the Committee is the scrutiny of Corporate Priorities CP1 - Prosperity and CP3 
– Place.  Consideration of items in the current Forward Plan for those areas and discussion 
of potential items for scrutiny put forward by Members themselves demonstrates robust 
and proper governance.   
 
 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
None. 
 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
There are no financial implications associated with this scrutiny report. 
 
 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
There are no legal implications associated with this scrutiny report. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
No other implications associated with this scrutiny report have been identified. 
 

CONSULTATION 
Corporate Management Team  
 

APPENDICES 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 
 

APPENDIX A Quarter 1 Performance Reporting 

APPENDIX B Work Programme 2021/22 

APPENDIX C Forward Plan from 19th May 2021 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were 
used in the production of this report 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
 

 

Standing item on each Environment and Performance Committee agenda. 
 
 

 

RISK IMPLICATIONS 
There are no risk implications with receiving this report. 

Page 40



Appendix A: Q1 Performance 2021/22 

Performance Key 

Performance  Trend 

Achieved or 
exceeded target 

Within an Agreed 
Tolerance 

Outside of Agreed 
Tolerances 

Numbers have 
increased 

Improvement in 
trend or service 

No significant change  
Numbers have 

decreased 

Deterioration in 
trend or service 

       

 

Performance Overview  

Boston Borough Council KPIs 

Assets Performance 
Latest 
Value 

Target 

ASB001 Percentage of car parking income received against agreed budget L 63.59% 100.00% 

ASB002 Percentage of commercial rent received against agreed budget J 104.30% 100.00% 

Housing and Wellbeing Performance 
Latest 
Value 

Target 

HWB001 Number of properties improved through Council intervention J 25 20 

HWB002 Percentage of cases opened at homelessness prevention stage (i.e. before they have become homeless)  Not available   70.00% 

Commentary: This information is not currently available from Boston’s housing IT system. A new system is in development and will enable us to report in future. 

HWB003 
Percentage of homelessness cases that were opened at homelessness prevention stage that resulted in the customer not 
becoming homeless 

 Not available   70.00% 

Commentary: As above – not currently available 

HWB004 Number of verified rough sleepers (quarterly snapshot, verified at street count) L 5 0 

Commentary: Achieving zero is very challenging but this is the Government's aim, so we are trying to achieve this aspirational target. 

HWB005 Number of families with children placed into B&B for more than 6 calendar weeks  Not available   0 

Commentary: As above – not currently available 

Organisation and Corporate Support 
Performance 

Latest 
Value 

Target 

OCA001 Percentage of Alliance workforce who said 'yes' when asked if they felt valued at work L 61.58% 84.00% 

Commentary: This is a new measure so previous data is not available for accurate target setting until year end. Work is underway to drive up completion rates of the survey 
and to address the issues raised, including the launch of the Values & Behaviours for the Strategic Alliance on 1st July 2021. This includes a plan of embedding activity currently 
running up to March 2022. 

Operations Performance 
Latest 
Value 

Target 

P
age 41



Boston Borough Council KPIs 

OPB001 Percentage of household waste collected for recycling and composting K 39.73% 41% 

OPB002 Percentage of recycling collected that is contaminated and unable to be recycled Not available    28.00% 

OPB003 Percentage of fly-tips collected within 3 working days of being reported J 95.77% 95.00% 

OPB004 Market stall occupancy rate - percentage occupied against the target Not available    70.00% 

Planning Performance 
Latest 
Value 

Target 

PLB001 Percentage of major planning applications determined within 13/16 weeks L 0.00% 65.00% 

PLB002 Percentage of minor planning application determined within 8 weeks L 54.35% 75.00% 

PLB003 Percentage of other planning applications determined within 8 weeks K 74.60% 75.00% 

Commentary: These are new measures for planning, which relate purely to the statutory deadlines and do not include agreed extensions as previously and as measured 
nationally. For comparison, these performance measures all exceed the national minimum requirement (major applications 100% (national target 60%); minor applications 
93.48% (national target 70%); other applications 93.65% (national target 70%). There are many reasons applications can go beyond their statutory period (e.g. negotiations, 
amendments, Committee decisions etc). However, most of these are subsequently determined 'in time' through longer periods agreed with agents/applicants. In addition, the 
ongoing changes and general workloads within the service will impact on performance in the short term. 

Regulations Performance 
Latest 
Value 

Target 

RGB001 Percentage of food premises inspections completed against the Food Standards Agency annual inspection plan L 62.77% 100.00% 

Commentary: During this quarter the covid response has been the focus for our Environmental Health teams, responding to service requests and providing business advice. 
The focus of the team has shifted to planning and delivering the Food Standards Agency (FSA) Recovery Plan for Local Authorities and re-commencing routine food premises 
inspections, suspended by the FSA until 30th June, now that businesses are re-opening following the easing of national restrictions. 

PSPS Performance 
Latest 
Value 

Target 

PSB001 Time to process new Benefit claims (days) [BR&BIND005a] L 22.70 10.00 

Commentary: Quarter 1 results reflect the first quarter after a ‘lift and transfer’ of colleagues and associated services from to PSPS and as such performance is likely to be the 
same as it would have been if services remained. In due course, and after our respective benefits systems are aligned, PSPS will be able to provide much greater flexibility and 
resilience to peaks in demand such as those experienced in Q1 of this year. Volumes are unprecedented, with a 38% incoming work increase compared to last year, and this 
data excludes the Track and Trace processing which is adding further operational demand. PSPS have already implemented an automated process which is speeding up our 
response rates for many claimants. We have also reduced the inherited backlog down from 11,000 documents to 2,000. We are confident that processing times will improve 
for the rest of 2021/22, but we also note that in these unprecedented times forecasting is very difficult and we need to consider the possible impact of the furlough scheme 
ending shortly. Performance in this area is monitored daily. 

PSB002 Time to process Benefit change events (days) [BR&BIND005b] J 12.35 14.00 

PSB003 Council Tax collection rate [BR&BIND003] J 26.94% 26.00% 

PSB004 NDR collection rate [BR&BIND002] J 34.61% 30.00% 

32 

P
age 42



 

 
 

 

Environment and Performance Committee Work Programme 2021–22 
 

THIS COMMITTEE’S REMIT IS ALIGNED TO COPORATE PRIORITIES:   CP1 PROSPERITY   and   CP3 PLACE 
 

MEETING 
DATE 

AGENDA ITEMS REPORT AUTHOR PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER 

CABINET 

27.04.21 
 

1. Member Learning and Development Strategy - 2021 to 
2024 

2. Quarter 3 Performance / Work Programme 
3. Task & Finish Group Recommendations First Review 
4. Verbal update on MWG – Fly Tipping 

 

Assistant Director – Organisation 
and Corporate Services 
Standing Item Chairman 

Assistant Director – Regulation 
Cllr Judy Welbourn 

Cllr P Skinner 
 
“ 
“ 

12.05.2021 

22.06.21 
 
 
 

1. Recovery Plan – update   
2. Update on Member Working Group – Fly Tipping 
3. Work Programme 

Assistant Dir. Economic Growth 
Cllr Judy Welbourn 

Standing Item 

Cllr P Skinner 23.06.21 

 

07.09.21 
 

 

1. Annual CCTV Report.   update   
2. Annual ASB Report.     update   
3. Provision of Public Conveniences – Boston  (verbal) 
4. BBC Social Media Acceptable Use Policy 
5. Update on Member Working Group – Fly Tipping 
6. Work Programme  

 

 

Assistant Director - Regulation 
Assistant Director – Regulation 
Assistant Director - Operation 

Deputy Chief Executive 
Cllr J Welbourn 
Standing Item 

 

Cllr P Skinner 
Cllr P Skinner 
Cllr T Abbott 

Cllr P Skinner 

 
08.09.21 

 
26.10.21 
 

 

1. Draft Climate Change Strategy for consultation  
2. Update on Member Working Group – Fly Tipping 
3. Work Programme to include Q1. 

 

Assistant Director - Regulation 
Cllr Judy Welbourn 

Standing Item 
 

 

Cllr P Skinner 
 

 
17.11.21 

 

07.12.21 
 

 

1. Carbon Reduction Plan 
2. Health Inequalities in HMO’s 

 

   

19.01.22 

 

01.02.22 
 

 

1. Single Use Waste Policy 
2. Quarter 2 Performance 

 

   

09.02.22 

 

P
age 43



 

 
 

 
22.03.22 
 

 
1. Adoption of Climate Change Strategy 

   
30.03.22 

 
10.05.22 
 

    
11.05.22 

 
 

 

OPTIONS FOR SCRUTINY WORKING - current at issue of agenda 
 

 

Task and Finish Group Review 
 

None scheduled at time of agenda publication 
 

  

 

Member Working Group 
 

Fly-Tipping Working Group – verbal update at each meeting of the committee. 
 

  

 

Inquiry Session 
 

None scheduled at time of agenda publication  
 

  

 

All Member Briefings 
 

None scheduled at time of agenda publication  
 

 

 

Chairman:   Councillor Judith Skinner.     Vice Chairman:  Councillor Judy Welbourn 

Lead Officer:   Christian Allen   Clerk:       Karen Rist 

Pending future reporting: 

Public Convenience provision Boston.  Update report following initial tabling in September 2021. 

P
age 44



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL  

FORWARD PLAN 

1 OCTOBER 2021 TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2022 

The Forward Plan is a forecast of decisions which are expected to be taken by the Cabinet in the next twelve months. 
 
This Plan constitutes 28 day notice as required by virtue of Regulations 5(2) and 9(2) of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information (England) Regulations 2012.  
 
The Boston Borough Council definition of a key decision is: 

 A decision which results in the authority incurring expenditure which is, or involves the making of savings which are significant having 

regard to the authority’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or 

 Be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards of the Borough. 

Decisions set out in this Plan will be taken by the Cabinet unless otherwise specified.  All decisions included in this Plan will be taken on the 
basis of a written report and will be published on the Council’s website before the meeting. 
 
Please note that the decision dates are indicative and occasionally subject to change.  
 
The Council invites members of the public to attend any of the meetings at which decisions will be discussed and the papers listed on the 
Plan can be viewed free of charge at the Customer Services Desk, Municipal Building, West Street, Boston, or on the Council’s website, 
www.mybostonuk.com 
 
If you wish to make comments or representations regarding the decisions outlined in the Plan, please submit them in writing to the contact 
officer identified against each decision in the Plan, at least 2 working days before the date of the meeting at which the decision is to be taken. 
 
Agendas, decisions and minutes are published on the Council’s website www.mybostonuk.com 
 
Cabinet Members:  
 
Cllr Paul Skinner (Leader)    Cllr Tracey Abbott  Cllr Deborah Evans  Cllr Jonathan Noble 
Cllr Nigel Welton (Deputy Leader)  Cllr Richard Austin  Cllr Martin Griggs 

 

P
age 45

http://www.mybostonuk.com/
http://www.mybostonuk.com/


 

Report Title and  
Summary of Content 

Key / 
Non-Key 

Date Decision 
to be taken 

Rec to 
Council? 

Open or 
Exempt 

Lead Officer Portfolio Holder 

Community Governance Review - 
To consider a recommendation 
from the Corporate & Community 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
 

Key 20 Oct 2021 
 
22 Nov 2021 
 

 Open 
 

Mark Stinson, 
Monitoring Officer  
mark.stinson@shol
land.gov.uk 
 

Councillor Nigel Welton 
 
 

Draft Climate Change Strategy for 
consultation - A draft of the cross-
alliance Climate Change Strategy 
with Members being asked for 
approval to take this out to wider 
consultation before formal sign off 
of the final version in early 2022. 
 

Non Key 20 Oct 2021 
 

 Open 
 

Sarah Baker, 
Climate Change 
and Environment 
Manager Tel: 
07917 337857 
sarah.baker@e-
lindsey.gov.uk 
 

Councillor Paul Skinner 

Social Media Acceptable Use 
Policy - To provide a governance 
framework to proactively manage 
the Council's social media 
accounts and deal with 
inappropriate or misleading 
comments in an effective manner 
and in a way that protects account 
users. 
 

Non Key 20 Oct 2021 
 

 Open 
 

Rachel Robinson, 
Improvement 
Development 
Service Manager 
Tel: 07717 099955 
rachel.robinson@e
-lindsey.gov.uk 
 

Councillor Paul Skinner 

Boston City Status - Boston's 
application to become a city in a 
competition launched to celebrate 
the Queen's Platinum Jubilee next 
year 
 

Key 20 Oct 2021 
 
22 Nov 2021 
 

 Open 
 

Lydia Rusling, 
Assistant Director - 
Towns Fund  
lydia.rusling@e-
lindsey.gov.uk 
 

Councillor Paul Skinner 
 
Councillor Paul Skinner 

Empowering Healthy Communities 
- Councillor Grants Scheme - A 
progress report to show impact 

Non Key 8 Dec 2021 
 

 Open 
 

Jonathan Challen, 
Interim Assistant 
Director - Health 

Councillor Martin 
Griggs 

P
age 46



Report Title Key / 
Non-Key 

Date Decision 
to be taken 

Rec to 
Council? 

Open or 
Exempt 

Lead Officer Portfolio Holder 

and outcomes achieved through 
the grants scheme 
 

and Wellbeing Tel: 
01507 613051 
jonathan.challen@
e-lindsey.gov.uk 
 

Local Council Tax Support 
Scheme 2022/23 
 

Key 8 Dec 2021 
 
17 Jan 2022 
 

 Open 
 

Sharon Hammond, 
Head of Revenues 
and Benefits  
Sharon.hammond
@pspsl.co.uk 
 

Councillor Jonathan 
Noble 
 
Councillor Jonathan 
Noble 

Carbon Reduction Plan - To adopt 
the new Carbon Reduction Plan as 
commissioned from the Carbon 
Trust. 
 

Key 8 Dec 2021 
 

 Open 
 

Sarah Baker, 
Climate Change 
and Environment 
Manager Tel: 
07917 337857 
sarah.baker@e-
lindsey.gov.uk 
 

Councillor Paul Skinner 

Quarter 2 Report - Performance, 
Risk and Finance 
 

Non Key 8 Dec 2021 
 

 Open 
 

Suzanne Rolfe, 
Transformation 
Manager Tel: 
01205 314265 
suzanne.rolfe@bo
ston.gov.uk, 
Christine Marshall, 
Section 151 Officer  
christine.marshall
@sholland.gov.uk 
 

Councillor Jonathan 
Noble, Councillor Paul 
Skinner 

Carbon Reduction Action Plan - To 
agree the Action Plan for 
implementing the previously 

Non Key 23 Feb 2022 
 

 Open 
 

Sarah Baker, 
Climate Change 
and Environment 

Councillor Paul Skinner 

P
age 47



Report Title Key / 
Non-Key 

Date Decision 
to be taken 

Rec to 
Council? 

Open or 
Exempt 

Lead Officer Portfolio Holder 

approved Carbon Reduction Plan. 
 

Manager Tel: 
07917 337857 
sarah.baker@e-
lindsey.gov.uk 
 

Adoption of Climate Change 
Strategy - Members asked for 
recommendation to Council that 
the final Climate Change Strategy 
be adopted after being informed by 
a period of consultation in late 
2021. 
 

Non Key 23 Feb 2022 
 
28 Feb 2022 
 

 Open 
 

Sarah Baker, 
Climate Change 
and Environment 
Manager Tel: 
07917 337857 
sarah.baker@e-
lindsey.gov.uk 
 

Councillor Paul Skinner 
 
 

Single-Use Waste Policy 
 

Key 30 Mar 2022 
 
11 Apr 2022 
 

 Open 
 

Heather Prescott, 
Climate Change 
and Environment 
Officer  
heather.prescott@
boston.gov.uk 
 

Councillor Paul Skinner 
 
Councillor Paul Skinner 

Quarter 3 Report - Performance, 
Risk and Finance 
 

Non Key 30 Mar 2022 
 

 Open 
 

Christine Marshall, 
Section 151 Officer  
christine.marshall
@sholland.gov.uk, 
Suzanne Rolfe, 
Transformation 
Manager Tel: 
01205 314265 
suzanne.rolfe@bo
ston.gov.uk 
 

Councillor Jonathan 
Noble, Councillor Paul 
Skinner 

P
age 48


	Agenda
	B. MINUTES
	1 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY
	Appendix A. Climate Change Strategy

	3 WORK PROGRAMME INCLUDING QUARTER 1 PERFORMANCE REPORTING.
	Appendix A. Q1 Performance
	Appendix B.  Work Programme
	Appendix C.  Forward Plan


